Bucks Green, Rudgwick
Bucks Green has developed mainly along the Horsham to Guildford A281 road, with further growth extending along both Loxwood Road towards Tisman’s Common, and across the River Arun on Haven Road to the area around its junction with Naldretts Lane, along which there are several farms. The outlying farms off Guildford Road towards Horsham are also included for convenience. Bucks Green is the nodal point in the parish road network. Six roads converge on the settlement, effectively creating a series of four junctions all of which have their dangers, none of which have any traffic control such as a roundabout, a safe turning lane or lights. A by-pass has been considered in the past. With the best road accessibility in the parish, it is a linear community, but suffers considerable noise and traffic problems as a result.
History

The name Bucks Green is not all that ancient. There are historic references to ‘Wanford Green’, probably for much the same area, focused around the Haven Road junction and the river, and also to ‘Franktonhook’ (or Frankhook) at the Loxwood Road/Lynwick Street junctions, proably referring to the location of the cottage with a catslide roof now incorporated in the Fox Inn at the ‘hook’ or sharp angle junction to Loxwood, at which there is still a triangle of former ‘waste’ . the short footpath through the trees to Church Street has ben cited as relict common, and the wide verges to the river and beyond speak for themselves. As for a ‘green’ comparable to those in Surrey villages, there is no evidence. Some of the former common land was held by the manor of Hope. Buck is a local name, but the place name origin is obscure. Wanford on the other hand, which provides a useful moniker for the Haven Road part of Bucks Green, is a clear and ancient reference to the ford that existed here before the road bridges, and may well be ‘waggon ford’.
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 Outside the former post office stores, looking west to the Haven Road junction.

A cluster of old timber-framed houses around the Haven Road junction forms the historic core. These are Snoxall/Old House (1338, from dendro-chronological evidence), which became a roadside hotel/restaurant, Goblins Pool, then a restaurant, l’Antico, before reverting to two cottages as before. Burnalls Cottage (C15th) is misleading for two reasons. The oldest original cottage is completely hidden from view, a tiny cottage, and the most imposing part of the building is actually the attached house next door, an early 19th century brick building. Burnalls is associated with the Allberry family, millers at Wanford. Forge Cottage (1550, a forge into the early 20th century) is a Horsham stone roofed building tucked in the top end of Haven Road, but used to front with its smithy yard onto ther main road. Some in Rudgwick called it the Lower Smithy to distinguish it from the one in Cox Green. Adjacent to it is the white building that now stands on the footprint of the turnpike gatekeeper’s cottage. There was a double gate here across both roads. The rebuilt Rascalls (now Bucks Green House, Georgian) is on the opposite corner, and has been home to some well-heeled villagers in its time. Rudgwick’s oldest public house, The Queens Head (1760, now a private house), is here too, an imposing building opposite the Haven Road. Between the wars, when Francis Crouch was landlord, it was the venue for sportsmen after cricket or football matches in the field behind, which belonged to Gaskyns, and was given to the village as a sports field 1900-1930. A post office/stores, also now a private house, was established on land to the east of Burnalls. It became the telegraph office for the parish. Latterly the postmaster and shopkeeper was Mr Wellen, followed by Mr Harry Street. For a while it became an organ shop, in the heyday of electric organs. 

Bucks Green is still a significant business area in the parish. In the past, this revolved around retail, food and drink, and garage services. Today, much traditional business activity has ceased, and with it local employment. There is no shop or post office today. The Fox Inn is the only premises serving food and drink (excluding the Sports and Social Club, for members only). No petrol sales remain (there were several in the past), but two premises still continue as garage services, one as car sales, and one a workshop. A long established builders’ yard still has heating engineers in occupation. Other small premises have sprung up along the A281 completing the concentration of small businesses on the highly accessible main road.

At Gaskyns, which has been Pennthorpe School since the late 1940s, the old Gaskins Farm was pulled down to provide for a large house lived in by two generations of the Barker family, who have been called the village squires, living as they did in the heart of Rudgwick/Bucks Green, and providing the sports field and numerous other entertainments in their gardens. In the 19th century censuses, Gaskins Farm was considered part of Bucks Green, partly because Rudgwick village was entirely at the top end of its street until the railway station was built, and partly because its farmland abutted the road through Bucks Green. From the 1890s to 1930, a small Gaskyns estate developed under the ownership of Claude Barker comprised 207 acres which stretched across the Arun to include the still working Wanford Mill occupied by Mr Brown, and Warhams, across to Lynwick Street, the fields where the ‘Royals’ estate is now, and all the properties including Snoxalls and Burnalls on the north of Guildford Road in Bucks Green except the Queens Head and the old stores. The area between Church Street and Hatches on Lynwick Street had become parkland. He also farmed Dedisham Farm for a while. His bailiff , Richard Dewdney, farmed the land. Mr David Jamilly purchased the bulk of the estate north of the A281. During the war the house was requisitioned for military use. After the war it was sold to Pennthorpe. On David Jamilly’s death, the remainder was sold in Lots again in 1963. Pennthorpe has grown into a successful school with a cluster of buildings around the old house, and remnants of the former extensive
The Gaskyns Estate sale map 1930, using 1912 base map which gives an indication of the extent of Bucks Green’s built-up land in 1912.
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 gardens. To north, south and east the land has been built on, but this whole area is now thought of as Rudgwick, not Bucks Green. It was Lot 5 of the 1963 sale which later provided a strip of land which is today the most unsightly premises in the parish, operating as a small controversial pig farm in a most unsatisfactory location.
The main road east and west of Bucks Green did not come into existence until the Guildford to Horsham turnpike was completed after an Act of Parliament in 1809. The length of Guildford Road [image: image4.jpg]w,




passing through the hamlet is much older, as is Haven Road, and linked ‘Linnick Street’, Loxwood Road (in the past called Drungewick Lane), Rudgwick Street (Church Street) at Watts (or Watch) Corner, and Bowcroft Lane leading off the turnpike where the railway bridge used to be. Watts Corner was first named in the 16th century as Waytes.
Franktonhook has The Fox Inn (a late C17th cottage with an C18th western extension built as the parish workhouse, and an outbuilding once the parish fire station), and The Old School (1880). By the 20th century, it also had two motor garages and a shop/cafe. The  builder’s yard of William Farley was also here. By 1914 ribbon development had taken place to the east, linking the south side of the main road to the core, with characteristic Edwardian semi-detached cottages, some of which had small businesses, and then in the mid-20th century towards Tisman’s Common on the north side of Loxwood Road, an eclectic mix of building styles and sizes, to create the linear Bucks Green as it is today, absorbing The Redhouse, a farmhouse built about 1630, into the built-up area, which ended just short of Woodfalls.
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Left, the view from the west of the row of Edwardian properties, a good group when new, and still attractive today.

Rudgwick School was built on land part of Lynwick Farm, owned by the Braby family at the time. No one would contemplate a school on this restricted, steep and dangerous roadside site now! It closed in 1971 to all but the infants. Its first headmaster, Mr Woods remained in post from 1877 when the School Board was established to 1912, when he retired to Church Street. Other long serving heads were Mr Bacon, 1917-1948, who was in post during two world wars, and Mr Guest, who oversaw the move to Tate’s Way.
In addition, between the wars, rows of workers’ cottages were built by William Farley, the builders, south of the Arun near the historic Wanford Mill on Haven Road and Naldretts Lane in an area that it seems appropriate to call ‘Wanford Green’. The historic mill (rebuilt C18th) which may well date back to the very dawn of Rudgwick’s history as a settlement, and adjacent Georgian Millhouse form an attractive but private focal point. A curiosity here is the double bridge created to carry both river and millstream. A little further south the road itself divided leaving a large field in a diamond shape. The fourth SE side of the diamond has never been an adopted road or even a right of way until a local campaign succeeded in getting it made into a bridleway in 2009. At the time, it was said it went by the name of Beggars Lane. Map evidence seems to suggest that considerable traffic passed from Naldretts Lane to The Haven in past centuries, as well as to the bridge to cross the river. In the tithe map the field contained within this diamond was appropriately named Roundabout Field, but how did they know of roundabouts in those days?
Further secluded properties along Naldretts Lane include Naldretts House and Warhams, The latter, thought to be the oldest house in the parish (and for miles around – see Rudgwick Magazine articles on this website for details), dates from the early 13th century, 1213-1239 from dendrochronological evidence. Is this the oldest continuously inhabited house in the Sussex Weald? The lord of the manor of Pulborough, Alard le Fleming, on whose land it was built, may have built it as his Arun valley hunting lodge. He may also have been the builder of Rudgwick church and founder of the annual Holy Trinity fair, all at roughly the same time – a busy man, considering the turmoil the country was in at the time. 
Naldrett House is interesting for its having been home to the locally prominent Naldrett family for a long time. In 1318, about the same time as Alard was building his lodge next door at Warhams, a grant of a parcel of 3 acres ‘next the Waneford Water’ on the north, with a garden and buildings (the mill?), between Wanford bridge to the west and the land of Robert de Naldrette to the east was made to Stephen Vas by Robert de Howyk in the 11th year of the reign of Edward II. Witnesses – John ate Naldrete, Robert at Naldrete and others. Throughout the 14th century numerous documents attest to the considerable reach of the Naldretts with land in Billingshurst, Wisborough, Loxwood, and Kirdford. 
By1463, the Naldretts were owners of the mill. Among many documents in the record office referencing the mill and/or the Naldretts, one from 1718 is interesting: “By George Naldrett of Naldrett House in Rudgewicke, gent., to Henry Jupp of Rudgewicke, miller, of all that his messuage or tenement and dwellinghouse, stables, buildings &c. with 2 ac. of land on the west side of the said dwellinghouse and all those his three water mills with 4 pairs of millstones, all in Rudgewicke and called Wanford or Wanford Mills, with the millhouse, millstreams, ponds, bays &c. utensils, implements and other materials "as standards thereto belonging" with free liberty of ingress &c. by such ways as had been formerly used. Except timber. Term, 21 years; rent, £24.”
They became land owners of a large acreage, extending to Slinfold, for many generations, and were considered the only 16th century gentry of Rudgwick. Unfortunately, from a house history perspective, they rebuilt the house, nevertheless in very elegant Georgian style, in the 18th century. Naldrett Barn survives from an earlier date, being 10 years older, and (although delisted) described by English Heritage as having unusual length and impressive uncluttered volume – now a private house. The last Naldrett died without heirs in 1778 His land was inherited by James Piggott, a relation, whose daughter Emma married Edward Brice Bunny. Then, or soon after, the mill at Wanford was leased to Henry and William Allberry. It was a later Allberry who built Waggonford (first called Wanford Villa, then Dunton) c1875. Wanford Cottages were built by the last milling family c1890. The Bunnys made their base at Slinfold Lodge, and later changed the family surname to St John, major landowners in Bucks Green, including Gaskins, and in The Haven and Slinfold, finally the last member of the family locally dying in 1950s. 
Further east, Naldretts Lane becomes Pensfold Lane, heading into Slinfold (except that in 1865 the railway cut off this route to Slinfold and Horsham). The last house in Rudgwick is the pretty and isolated Morelands Farm, a 17th century building. The next farm after which the lane is named is in Slinfold.
Along Guildford Road, to the east are four houses of interest. The first, opposite the former shop, is The Tollhouse, a misleading name, as it is not on the site of the tollhouse. Furthermore, it was built in the curtilage of the smithy, first called Arun Villas, then The Laurels, then Phenice Croft, before its present post-war name. The name Phenice Croft (a place in Crete, referred to in the Bible) was given by William Sharp about 1892, who lived there somewhat secretly, for 2 years. He was a much travelled Scottish writer of a troubled disposition who invented his pseudonym ‘Fiona McCloud’ whilst in Bucks Green, writing a book titled Pharais. He was a friend of another literati, Stanley Little, who lived in Rudgwick rather longer, and at the time was lodging at Bucks Green Place. Both, I think , were drawn to the area by its Shelley connections. 

Much the oldest is Green Lanes (formerly Mill Hill Cottage) on the left, 1475, in the 19th century part of Gaskins Farm, in the 20th a tea shop for a while – a dangerous place to stop today! On the right, Georgian (c 1800) Mill Hill House, was occupied by gentry from 1898. Further on, an 1890s Victorian villa, Oakdene, was built for Ellen Walder, widow of Henry, on the family’s land at Mill Hill farmed with Warhams until 1898. From the 1970s Oakdene became a doctor’s surgery for Dr Henderson until his retirement.

The old road (referenced in the name Green Lanes, above) continued north-east as Bowcroft Lane towards Rowhook and Horsham, with a branch to Hermongers in the north (now no longer linked to the south). The 1809 turnpike, Guildford Road, replaced Bowcroft Lane which has remained a bridleway/footpath, and introduced new southern access to Swaines, Smithers Farm (no house), Gravatts, and Hyes (17th century, also extended and gentrified 1830, and in Victorian period to a high quality.
Swaynes, closest of all to the Horsham to Guildford road but originally off Bowcroft Lane, was another house to be enlarged in Victorian times but retains much of the older 17th century house and has a stone roof. Swaynes has been home to several prominent families, including the Grays (he was Chief Cashier at the Bank of England, and a naturalist of note), and in the early 20th century, the Secretans, regarded highly in the village for their liberal attitude and friendliness.  Gravatts (the old house demolished) lay behind and was included in this estate. Between them this cluster has three barn conversions (one Listed) and a converted Victorian water tower.

To the south of Hyes Hanger is yet another large imposing house, with astonishing views across the valley, and previously imparked. Hyes, was home to the Napper family for over 200 years. A 17th century house, it has been much extended and gentrified to become with its ancillary buildings and cluster of dwellings, both new and converted, a delightful spot. Today approached from the A281, it was once on the old route from Bowcroft Lane to Rowhook.

Topography. 
The main road through Bucks Green is on level ground, though this is misleading as the slope from the ridge in Rudgwick is a gradual descent to the Arun. To the west Loxwood Road and particularly the A281 cross a deep gill and lag (lag – wetland), which creates an attractive setting for The Fox Inn. This gill (steep-sided valley) is perhaps the deepest of all the well-known dips in the A281 as it crosses Rudgwick, and was a serious obstacle to movement until the turnpike engineers reduced its depth when culverting the stream under the road. It also formed a very unlevel playground for the old school! To the south the land falls towards the floodplain, which bisects the hamlet and parish, leaving the Wanford and Naldretts areas detached from the rest of Bucks Green on low but rising ground to the south.
Drainage. 
The river Arun flows from east to west through Wanford Mill where the millstream and river need separate bridges, and where serious flooding can occurs, though rarely overtopping the bridges. Several small streams cross Bucks Green on their way to the river. The one in the gill next to The Fox Inn, which drains through two woodland hangers stretching down from the ridge on the Surrey border (Well Grove and Lynwick Hanger). Similarly, streams in Greathouse Hanger and Gravatts Hanger cross the A281 in east of Bucks Green. Further east, several more dips are well known to drivers on the way to Roman Gate, the junction with the A29. The Arun valley is perhaps Rudgwick’s most under-appreciated natural asset, a landscape unit that passes right through the parish, but which is most associated with a settlement here in Bucks Green. An area no bigger than a field to the east of Wanford Mill contains a former channel of the river, which had been straightened by the then millers. This environmental gem is on private land, but is the kind of place we should ensure remains a wild and unspoilt wetland, only disturbed by cattle grazing the water meadow in summer. 
Vegetation.
The Bucks Green area has surprisingly little woodland. A wide shaw on the north side of the A281 at the Loxwood Road junction gives an impression of being wooded, as do the large oaks in the hedgerows of Haven Road and Naldretts Lane. One mighty oak on Haven Road, adjacent to Bucks Green Place, may have the greatest girth of any tree in the parish. There is woodland between the floodplain and the A281 to the east of Bucks Green, but the most significant area is in the gill referred to above where it adjoins the King George V Playing Field and where a Biodiversity Management Project has made the area accessible again. And then there is the river, and its cut-offs such as that described above – a corridor for wetland flora and fauna.
Open Space

The Playing Field is the largest public open space in the parish and as well as football, cricket, and tennis is able to hold village events such as bonfire night, Rudgwick Day, Apple Day, and the occasional royal jubilee. It has the village hall, children’s play facilities and the Rudgwick Sports and Social Club. The field should by rights be called King George’s Field as its origins (shown by the official GGF carving on the gate posts) were in pre-war funding of sports fileds in memory of the later King George V. The field’s debut, however, was halted by the war, when funds were not fully in place, so after doing duty in food production, it finally came together in the late 1940s. The village hall replaced a post-war ex-army hut, which itself replaced a small hut at the Queen’s Head, and the still in use Jubilee Hall in the village. RSCC moved from Loxwood Road where it had been a Social Club since its inception as the War Memorial Club in the 1920s. The old cricket pavilion is now a thriving youth club. With all this activity, it might be fairer to describe Buck’s Green as a village rather than a hamlet.
